1949

Lloyd C. Andersen v. Bingham and Garfield Railway Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT.

The parties will be referred to as in the Court below.

All italics are ours.

The event, out of which this action arose, took place and occurred at approximately 9:00 o'clock p.m., on the 23rd day of May, 1947, at the point where defendant's railroad track crosses U. S. Highway No. 50. The high-

way extends in a general easterly-westerly direction and the railroad tracks run parallel with the highway and to the south thereof for approximately one-fourth of a mile. The track circles to the northwest and crosses U. S. Highway No. 50 a short distance north of Garfield, Utah (R. 116, 117).

The ridge of mountains to the south of the tracks has the effect of casting a dark shadow over equipment moving along the tracks at night and removing any silhouetting against the sky which might reveal the presence of a train or other equipment on the tracks (R. 136).

Lloyd C. Andersen, a young man 23 years of age, was driving his 1935 Plymouth Sedan in an easterly direction on U. S. Highway No. 50 from Tooele, Utah, where he was employed as a Supply Clerk at the Deseret Chemical Warfare Depot toward Salt Lake City (R. 140, 141).

At the time he left Tooele it was dark and he was required to use the headlights on his automobile. His last memory of the trip toward Salt Lake City was that he stopped at the junction of Tooele Highway and U. S. Highway No. 50 and then proceeded in an easterly direction along U. S. Highway No. 50. (R. 144, 145). His 1935 automobile was in good condition prior to the accident (R. 169).

Defendant's train, consisting of fifteen gondola type cars, being shoved in front of a Diesel engine, was approaching the crossing traveling in a westerly and northwesterly direction. There were no lights on the leading car except lanterns carried by three members

of the train crew. The engineer was on the right-hand side of the engine as it approached the crossing. As defendant's train approached the crossing it was traveling at a speed of between seven and ten miles per hour (Exhibit 11 - R. 223, 250).

It was a dark night and the engine's headlight cast a strong beam of light over the tops of the low gondola cars toward the west along the foot of the mountains, as the train proceeded toward the crossing. The illusion thus created was that the headlight was at the front of the train and probably accounts for plaintiff's failure to observe the cars as he approached the crossing (R. 129, 175).

At the time of the accident there were no lights or automatic safety devices at the crossing; no flagman was stationed there. The only warning to eastbound traffic was a standard reflectorized cross-buck warning sign and a standard warning sign located approximately 417 feet to the west of the crossing.

As the train neared the crossing three members of the crew, riding on the leading car, observed the approach of plaintiff's automobile. The position of the men on the car is shown on Exhibit 7. After the men saw plaintiff's automobile approaching, Paddock, the engine foreman, in charge of the crew at the time, climbed to the top of the leading car. (R. 225).

As plaintiff's automobile approached the crossing it was traveling at a speed of between thirty-one and forty miles per hour (R. 172, 173, 184).

Two of the trainmen waived their lanterns back and forth endeavoring to attract plaintiff's attention. Thereafter, Paddock gave the engineer a "washout" signal (R. 225, 226). *At the time Paddock gave the washout signal the leading end of the leading car was about three car lengths from the railroad crossing* (R. 226). A car length is approximately thirty-five feet (R. 256).

As plaintiff's automobile approached the crossing it appeared to the men on the leading car as though he hesitated and then tried to go around the car (R. 230).

Neither witness Doty nor his wife, who were following plaintiff in their automobile, saw switchmen's lanterns on the front end of the train or were aware of the presence of the train at the crossing until they saw the lights on plaintiff's automobile go up in the air and then saw the railroad cars proceeding across the crossing (R. 174, 179, 187).

Paddock apparently was concerned over whether plaintiff would observe the train sometime before the accident occurred because when the leading car was still a considerable distance from the crossing he went high on the leading car in order to be in a position to give a washout signal if necessary (R. 325, 326).

Engineer Colby testified that as he approached the crossing and the leading car started around the curve he saw an automobile's headlights approaching from the west, traveling east, and that as he came closer to the crossing he observed the men on the leading car trying to attract the driver's attention. *He slowed the*

train down somewhat and then attempted to bighole the train. Shortly after he bigholed the train he received a washout signal from the leading end (R. 251, 252). It was engineer Colby's opinion that the train as made up on that evening and on that track and under the identical circumstances at the time could have been stopped within about four car lengths had it gone into an emergency application of the automatic air brake system at the time he attempted to bighole the train (R. 255). It will be recalled that at the time Paddock gave the washout signal the leading end of the leading car was three car lengths from the crossing and that engineer Colby had bigholed the train before he saw the washout signal given. It would have taken less than one second for every brake on the train to have been placed in emergency application had the brakes been operating properly (R. 245). The train, however, traveled three car lengths before reaching the intersection, thirty feet across the intersection and two hundred ten feet beyond before coming to a stop. The train traveled approximately nine and one-half car lengths after the brakes were applied and for two hundred seventeen feet of that distance was shoving the automobile sideways along the tracks and the leading trucks of the leading car were derailed and bumping along the ties (R. 327). If the brakes had responded properly the train would have been completely stopped in four to six car lengths (R. 255, 327).

The automobile was demolished by the impact (R. 120 - Exhibit 7). The front trucks derailed at the point of collision (R. 229). When plaintiff's automobile came

to rest after the accident it was 217 feet from a point midway in the westbound lane of traffic on U. S. Highway No. 50 which appeared to be the point of collision (R. 119, 128 - Exhibit 53).

When Doty approached the automobile and the train after they had come to rest, the frame of the automobile was up against the leading car (R. 176). The automobile had been struck on the right front side approximately in the vicinity of the front door (Exhibit 8).

The train had two braking systems, the independent air brake system which controlled the braking mechanisms of the locomotive itself and the automatic brake system which operated the brakes on the entire train. Both brakes were operated by air (R. 238). The automatic air brakes were set by releasing air pressure in the brake line (R. 242). An emergency application of air in the automatic brake line permits all of the air to escape immediately from the train into the atmosphere which would cause the brakes to set on every car (R. 244). Throughout a long train it would not take over a second to apply every brake in the train by an emergency application. On a train consisting of 10 cars and an engine it would take considerably less than one second to actuate the entire braking system on the train (R. 245). If the pressure in the automatic air brake system were too low, it would be impossible for the engineer to throw the brakes of the train into emergency application even though he released all of the air (R. 245).

Before the accident occurred, as Engineer Colby proceeded along the foot of the mountain on a descending grade toward the crossing, he was required to use some braking power to keep from going too fast (R. 249). As he proceeded along he observed the guage in the engine and noted that the air pressure in the automatic brake system continued to lower indicating leakage in the system (R. 249). He also observed that he could not leave the automatic air brake in lap or neutral position very long or it would reduce the train line pressure too much and that the leakage on this train was unusual. He kept fighting the loss of air and leakage all the way down the hill by putting the locomotive in neutral and opening the throttle to speed up the compressors and make pressure faster (R. 281, 282). This procedure would not have been necessary if the usual and normal amount of leakage had been present (R. 282). As a matter of fact, the independent air brake system actuating the engine brakes played a large part in the operation of the train on the evening of the accident (R. 281). According to the Air Brake Pocket Handbook the brake pipe leakage should not have exceeded five pounds per minute (R. 287). On this particular train the leakage was much greater than the five pounds per minute authorized by the pocket handbook (R. 295).

When Engineer Colby attempted to bighole the train he did not get an emergency application throughout the train (R. 252). He never did get an emergency application (R. 254). He was certain that the train did

not go into emergency because the train line gauge did not immediately go to zero but dropped down gradually (R. 283). The reason he didn't get an emergency application throughout the train was that the pressure in the system was too low (R. 245).

When we consider that a fraction of a second would have given plaintiff sufficient time to have passed across the intersection to safety and that the defective brakes caused the train to be moved $9\frac{1}{2}$ car lengths, 217 feet of that distance shoving an automobile sideways before it, and with the front trucks of the leading car derailed, and that the train in engineer Colby's opinion could have been stopped within four car lengths had an emergency application been obtained, it is clear that the cause of this accident was the defective brakes of the train.

Plaintiff was very seriously injured. He was unconscious in the hospital for seven days following the accident (R. 146). He suffered a severe concussion of the brain and a double compound fracture of his left leg (R. 147). He had a Zimmer splint, consisting of four quarter inch pins and a device holding the pins in fixed position on his leg for approximately five days after which the bone slipped necessitating replacement of the splint with a spica cast covering his body from the breast down over the right leg and half way down on the left leg (R. 148). This cast remained in place for approximately one month and three weeks and thereafter another cast was placed on his body and

legs. The total time that his body and legs were in casts was three and a half months (R. 150). He was hospitalized for five months and three weeks and after leaving the hospital was on crutches for two months and on a cane for an additional three months (R. 152). At the time of the trial, more than one and one half years after the accident, the cords and muscles in his right leg were tied up and grown to the flesh so that he could not flex his leg in a normal manner (R. 153). He suffered permanent injury to his right leg and permanent injury to the brain substance resulting from the serious concussion which he had received (R. 203, 212).

We submit that a grave miscarriage of justice was perpetrated when the jury returned a no cause of action verdict and that the jury's verdict can only have resulted from confusing, misleading and erroneous instructions by the trial court as will be hereinafter discussed.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The Court erred in giving Instruction No. 11.
2. The Court erred in giving Instruction No. 15.
3. The Court erred in refusing to give plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 3.
4. The Court erred in overruling plaintiff's motion for a new trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

WHERE THE DOCTRINE OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE IS PRESENTED AS AN ISSUE FOR THE JURY IT IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FOR THE COURT TO INSTRUCT THAT IF THE NEGLIGENCE OF PLAINTIFF CONTRIBUTED TO CAUSE HIS OWN INJURY HE CANNOT RECOVER. (Assignment of Errors 1, 2, 3 and 4).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

WHERE THE DOCTRINE OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE IS PRESENTED AS AN ISSUE FOR THE JURY IT IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FOR THE COURT TO INSTRUCT THAT IF THE NEGLIGENCE OF PLAINTIFF CONTRIBUTED TO CAUSE HIS OWN INJURY HE CANNOT RECOVER. (Assignment of Errors 1, 2, 3 and 4).

(a) *Defendant was clearly negligent in its violation of the Federal Safety Appliance Act.*

The ground of negligence relied upon by the plaintiff in submission of this case to the jury is set forth in plaintiff's complaint as follows (R. 5):

“(e) That prior to the time of the occurrence of the grievance, as herein set forth, the

Congress of the United States of America passed a law which was in full force and effect at said time, to wit: 45 U.S.C.A. 1, which provides as follows:

‘It shall be unlawful for any common carrier engaged in interstate commerce by railroad to use on its line any locomotive engine in moving interstate traffic not equipped with a power driving-wheel brake and appliances for operating the train-brake system, or to run any train in such traffic that has not a sufficient number of cars in it so equipped with power or train brakes that the engineer on the locomotive drawing such train can control its speed without requiring brakemen to use the common hand brake for that purpose.’

That in violation of said law, defendant, at the time and place aforesaid, negligently, recklessly and carelessly operated in interstate commerce the said engine and string of fifteen gondola cars equipped with brakes that would not, and could not, retard or control the speed of said train when operated by the engineer in the usual and ordinary manner, and that because of the inefficiency and inadequacy of said brakes the engineer was unable to retard or decrease the speed of the train or bring it to a stop when to do so would have averted the accident with resultant injuries to plaintiff as herein alleged.”

This case was originally removed to the United States District Court for the District of Utah, Central Division, because of the allegation heretofore set forth (R. 16, 17, 18, 24). Thereafter, the case was tried in the United States District Court for the District of

Utah, Central Division, and a verdict returned in plaintiff's favor. Plaintiff, however, being dissatisfied with the verdict, appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit on the ground and for the reason that the case was wrongfully removed to the Federal Court. The United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit at *109 Fed. (2d) 328* reversed the judgment with directions to remand the case to the state court, and stated as follows:

“The allegations in the complaint charging as an element of negligence failure on the part of the defendant to comply with the exactions of the Safety Appliance Act merely tendered the issue of fact whether the train was operated without brakes being in operative condition as required by the Act. The complaint did not present any issue or controversy in respect to the validity, construction, or effect of the Act. It did not set forth any right or immunity which would be supported if the Act be given one construction or effect and defeated if given another. While the pertinent provisions of the Act lurked in the background as creating a duty the breach of which constituted negligence, the right of action available and the incidents of such right of action sprang from the law of Utah. It did not arise under the laws of the United States. *Minneapolis, St. Paul & Sault Ste. Marie Railway Co. v. Poplar*, supra; *Moore v. Chesapeake & Ohio Railway Co.*, supra; *Gilvray v. Cuyahoya Valley Railway Co.*, supra; *Fairport, Painesville & Eastern Railroad Co. v. Meredith*, supra; *Tipton v. Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway Co.*, supra. Therefore, the cause was not removable.”

The Safety Appliance Act clearly imposes a duty on carriers by railroad in interstate commerce for the protection of travelers on the public highways.

In the case of *Fairport, P. & E. R. Co. v. Meredith*, 292 U. S. 589, 54 S. Ct. 826, 828, (decided June 4, 1934), it was contended that the Federal Safety Appliance Act was intended only for the protection of railroad employees and passengers and that its protection did not extend to travelers upon public highways. The Supreme Court of the United States held that Congress, by the enactment of the Federal Safety Appliance Act, provided protection to travelers upon public highways as well as to railroad employees and passengers. The Court stated:

“* * * To confine the beneficial effect of these provisions to employees and passengers would be to impute to Congress an intention to ignore the equally important element which their enactment actually contributes to the safety of travelers at highway crossings. Since all of these three classes of persons are within the mischief at which the provisions are aimed, it is quite reasonable to interpret the statute imposing the duty as including all of them.”

See also *Brady v. Terminal R. Ass'n of St. Louis*, 303 U. S. 10, 58 S. Ct. 426.

The Safety Appliance Act imposes an absolute and continuing duty on interstate carriers by railroad to maintain the automatic air brake systems on trains in proper and efficient condition.

Roberts' Federal Liabilities of Carriers, Vol. 2 (2d Ed.) discusses the absolute character of the carriers duty in maintaining safe and efficient brake systems on their trains and locomotives:

“Sec. 597. *Tests of compliance with Act.* The statute requires, not only that a train be equipped with the prescribed minimum percentage of power-braked cars, but also that all power-braked cars in the train which are associated together with such minimum ‘shall have their brakes so used and operated.’ * * * The test of compliance with the requirement that the power-braked cars of the train ‘shall have their brakes so used and operated’ seems, under the authorities, to be whether the train-brake system as a whole was capable of efficient use and operation at the time in question. Equipment of the train with a power-brake system conforming to the standard set by the Act is not enough. *It must also meet and respond to the test of actual use. It must give the engineer efficient control of the train.*” (Italics ours.)

“Sec. 656. *Duty under Safety Appliance Act.* Whatever grounds there may have been for entertaining a contrary view, it is now settled that the Federal Safety Appliance Act imposes an *absolute and unqualified duty*, upon the carriers subject to its terms, to provide and maintain the equipment specified by its provisions and by the orders of the Interstate Commerce Commission promulgated by its authority. As to the installation and maintenance of the equipment required by the act and these orders, an absolute duty rests upon the carrier, and neither ignorance of the fact of non-compliance, nor bona fide and diligent efforts to

prevent it, will exonerate the carrier from responsibility for the consequences of the default.

“ ‘The Congress,’ said the national Supreme Court in a pioneer case construing this statute, ‘not satisfied with the common-law duty and its resulting liability, has prescribed and defined the duty by statute. We have nothing to do but to ascertain and declare the meaning of a few simple words in which the duty is described. It is enacted that ‘no cars, either loaded or unloaded, shall be used in interstate traffic which do not comply with the standard.’ There is no escape from the meaning of these words. Explanation cannot clarify them and ought not to be employed to confuse them or lessen their significance. *The obvious purpose of the legislature was to supplant the qualified duty of the common law with an absolute duty deemed by it more just.*’ ”

The absolute liability created by the Safety Appliance Act is sufficiently established by evidence which proves that the equipment challenged has performed in an inefficient manner. See *Didinger v. Pennsylvania R. Co.*, 39 F. (2d) 798, (6 C.C.A., Apr. 7, 1930); *Lehigh Valley R. Co. v. Howell*, 6 F. (2d) 784; *Anderson v. Chesapeake & O. R. Co.*, 186 N. E. 185, certiorari denied, 54 S. Ct. 93, 78 L. Ed. 583.

In the case of *Spokane & I.E.R. Co. v. Campbell*, 241 U. S. 497, 60 L. Ed. 1125, 36 S. Ct. 683, the United States Supreme Court interpreted Sections 1 and 9 of the Federal Safety Appliance Act as imposing upon a railroad a mandatory and absolute duty of maintaining the air brakes on interstate trains in a state of proper

repair so that they can be efficiently operated. In that case the plaintiff, an engineer, was injured when the air brakes on the train he was operating did not hold and a head-on collision with another train resulted. The pertinent portions of the Court's opinion are as follows:

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