1949

# Lloyd C. Andersen v. Bingham and Garfield Railway Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Colby said that even though the leakage was great, he had control of his train and never felt the need for hand brakes. (R. 277) Obviously this was so, for no one has ever contended that any equipment was defective or failed to function on the engine; and the 5 of 6 loaded cars and 3 of the 9 empties which had the AB

type of brake would function insofar as emergency was concerned, regardless of leakage or prior brake service applications. (R. 260, 336-340.)

The only possible failure short of ideal operation would be in the 5 empty sand gondola cars, the one empty flat car, and the loaded tank car next to the engine which had the less-efficient-as-to-emergency, *but still standard*, K-2 type of brake. (Ex. 11, R. 258-260, 335.)

As Colby said, there are thousands of these K-2 type brakes in operation as standard equipment on the various railroad trunk lines (R. 258); yet upon analysis his complaint and that of plaintiff is that this standard equipment—lacking the emergency reservoir feature of the more modern AB type—*operated just as it was designed to do*. According to Colby some probably didn't go into emergency when Colby "big-holed" on top of the many service, lap, and leakage applications of braking power. (R. 252):

Q. Now, what happened when you big-holed the brakes?

A. Well, the train began slowing down.

Q. Did you get an emergency application?

A. Not throughout the train, no.

Q. You didn't go into emergency throughout the train?

A. The train didn't.

Even so, the statutory test of the Federal Safety Appliance Act—"that the engineer on the locomotive drawing such train can control its speed without requir-

ing brakemen to use the common hand brake for that purpose," was met. (R. 276) :

- Q. The brakes apparently operated properly, on each of those applications you obtained the necessary braking power, right?
- A. Yes, I got too much when I held it on lap, then I got too much braking power and had to release it.
- Q. You didn't notice anything that led you to feel you should stop that train because you were not having proper braking, did you?
- A. Not in that short distance.
- Q. Not in that short distance.
- Q. So you kept proceeding; is that right?
- A. Yes, sir, I kept proceeding.
- Q. And your brakes controlled that train so that your speed gradually decreased; is that correct?
- A. Well, it would decrease, then I would gain.
- Q. Then you would speed up a little?
- A. Then I would speed up a little.
- Q. Then brake again?
- A. Then start to pick up.
- Q. Then brake again?
- A. Then start to pick up.
- Q. At no time did you feel it necessary to signal for hand brakes, did you?
- A. No, because—
- Q. At any time—

MR. BLACK: Let him answer the question.

MR. BEHLE: He said "No".

THE COURT: Well, he said "because" something; I think perhaps he should be permitted to explain his answer, if it is responsive to your question.

A. At the lower end of this run, or grade, the grade is not as steep; therefore, I knew I could stop the train down there.

Q. That's right; it says from 2 per cent down to 1.85, and gradually flattens off, in the forepart of Exhibit 2, is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. But, in spite of the fact that you knew the grade was getting less, did you feel any need for asking for hand brakes?

A. No.

Defendant accordingly submits that there was no evidence of violation of the Federal Safety Appliance Act—the only one of the complaint's ten original allegations of negligence ever a serious factor in this case.

---

(b) Plaintiff's next sub-point—pages 17 to 24—is that the Last Clear Chance Doctrine was here fairly applicable.

If the case was to go to the jury at all, defendant so concedes. This despite argument on fallacious premises set forth on page 18 of appellant's brief which will be covered later, including attention to the very heart of plaintiff's case delineated on page 19—"a split second would have saved plaintiff harmless."



(c) Thus we come, plaintiff's brief page 24, to the single point of plaintiff's appeal—that the jury was improperly instructed.

We have no quarrel with the cited authorities (pp. 25 to 31) as those cases and authorities are applied to their own facts. Interesting, however, is the omission from those authorities of the Drummond and Van Wagoner cases, the two recent leading cases of this court involving railroad crossing accidents.

Diametrically opposed to plaintiff's contention that instructing on both the law of contributory negligence and the Last Clear Chance Doctrine is error, we would have thought the contrary elementary in negligence cases. The jury in its deliberations in a last clear chance must, as we see it, as a rule make three determinations and be instructed accordingly; (1) Was the defendant negligent at all? If not, there is no liability; if so, the next question arises; (2) Was plaintiff negligent? If not, there is liability on the part of defendant; if so, there is presented the final question; (3) Did defendant have and fail to use the last clear chance? If this is answered in the negative, plaintiff cannot prevail; if so, defendant is liable.

Thus we conceive it a non sequitur to say that “where the doctrine of last clear chance is presented as an issue for the jury it is clearly erroneous for the court to instruct that if the negligence of plaintiff contributed to cause his own injury he cannot recover.” The instructions *must* cover both simple negligence and contributory negligence as essential preliminaries to the

final application of the doctrine of the last clear chance.

And so the trial court instructed in a charge of twenty-two instructions (R. 74 to 95), including that of No. 21 wherein the jury was directed to consider the entire charge as a connected whole without undue reference to any one particular point. (R. 194) True, in Instruction No. 11 covering contributory negligence and plaintiff's duties as a driver, no specific mention is made of the Last Clear Chance Doctrine, which is covered by the very next instruction. But this court has often stated the impracticability of covering and reiterating all points and possibilities in each separate instruction.

Van Cleave v. Lynch,  
106 Utah 159, 166 P. 2d 244.

Earle v. Salt Lake & Utah R. Corp.,  
109 Utah 111, 165 P. 2d 877.

Gogo v. Continental Casualty Co.,  
109 Utah 122, 165 P. 2d 882.

Graham v. Johnson,  
..... Utah ....., 166 P. 2d 230.

Martin v. Sheffield,  
..... Utah ....., 189 P. 2d 127.

And so we submit that the charge was proper and fairly presented the case to the jury, which without too much difficulty (R. 39) found the issues in favor of defendant and the evidence to establish either want of negligence on the part of defendant, that plaintiff's own delict was a proximate cause of his injuries, or probably both.



## Point 2.

### **2. The Court erred in denying defendant's motion for a directed verdict.**

Defendant, to sustain in any event the judgment below, submits that under the evidence in this case the court should have directed a verdict against plaintiff; the case should not have been submitted to the jury at all for decision on the merits. Under the evidence most favorable to plaintiff, and as a matter of law, his own actions and failures to act were a proximate cause of the accident; defendant was neither itself negligent; nor did it have the last clear chance to avoid the collision.

(a) Defendant's lack of negligence has been argued under Point 1(a) and need not be reiterated here.

(b) **Plaintiff's own negligence, though speculative in detail, nevertheless existed and persisted until the end.**

Having the duty as he approached the crossing to use ordinary care for his own safety, to use his senses of sight and hearing, to keep a lookout ahead, to keep his car under safe control, and to drive at a speed which was reasonable and prudent under the existing conditions of darkness (including any illusive mountain shadows), Lloyd Andersen nevertheless heeded not the reflectorized warning signs 417 feet and 21 feet in advance of the crossing, heeded not the trainmen's warning lights and sounding bells and whistles. He plunged right on at a speed over 31 and probably at least 45 miles per hour in an attempt to "end-run" the defendant's train, despite its right of way.

This delict on plaintiff's part continued right up to the point of impact, whatever its motivation—excessive speed, improper lookout, or reckless driving when 72 feet away Andersen finally determined to beat the train. His conduct was black in contrast to the white of Davies' donkey tied in the road, Teakle thrown between the rails, Bunker fallen from the pilot, and the dumb child in the Thompson case.

Utah's most recent case on this point is *Drummond v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 177 P.(2d) 903, ..... Utah ....., decided February 20, 1947. In view of this recent unanimous decision by the present Utah Supreme Court and its review of Utah law where railroad crossing accidents are concerned, we largely confine our authorities on this point to that case.

There, as here, plaintiff driver was familiar with the road; the crossing angle was approximately the same, although there the train approached from the driver's rear. The view was unobstructed in both cases, although for a much further distance in this case; there were no unusual crossing conditions such as protruding rails, multiplicity of tracks, etc., in either case. But here the facts are much stronger for the defendant: the train was moving at a much slower rate of speed; plaintiff was driving much faster; and there was no evidence as in the *Drummond* case that there were inadequate crossing signals or warnings.

A fortiori it seems plain that in this case, too, the trial court should have said as in the *Drummond* case:

“So, here, the facts peculiar to this case lead to the inescapable conclusion that plaintiff’s own acts and conduct were not in keeping with the care required of a traveler upon the highway about to go upon and across the tracks of a railroad. Had this plaintiff exercised such care, then the collision would have been avoided.”

For further Utah cases, where on facts more favorable to plaintiff than in this case recovery was denied plaintiff drivers *as a matter of law*, see:

Nabrotzky v. Salt Lake & Utah Railroad,  
103 Utah 274, 135 P.(2d) 115;

Nuttall v. Denver & Rio Grande Railroad,  
98 Utah 383, 99 P.(2d) 15;

Pollett v. Denver & Rio Grande,  
82 Utah 505, 25 P.(2d) 963;

Clark v. Union Pacific R. Co.,  
70 Utah 29, 257 P. 1050;

Shortino v. Salt Lake & Utah Railroad Co.,  
52 Utah 276, 174 P. 860.

Applying the same rule, the United States Supreme Court said in Fairport, P. & E. Co. v. Meredith, 292 U. S. 589, 78 L. ed. 1446, 1448, *involving this same Federal Safety Appliance Act*:

There is also evidence which fairly establishes that as respondent drew near the crossing the train was in plain view for a sufficient length of time to have enabled respondent, by the use of ordinary care, to see the train, stop and avoid the collision, and, therefore, that she was guilty of contributory negligence. Miller v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 290 U. S. 227, 231, 54 S. Ct. 172, 78 L. ed. 285.

The facts are as different as could be imagined from *Pippy v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 79 Utah 425, 11 P.(2d) 305, where, among other things, the defendant's train was proceeding at sixty miles per hour over an obstructed crossing consisting of many tracks and a badly rutted road, with plaintiff driving at from five to six miles per hour and testifying that the automatic signals did not work and that no whistle or bell was sounded. This is the only Utah case permitting recovery, and then by a three-two decision reversing the court below because of the extreme facts against the railroad.

As Mr. Justice Holmes said for the unanimous court in *Baltimore & Ohio R. Co. v. Goodman*, 275 U. S. 66, 72 L. ed. 167:

“If at the last moment Goodman (the driver) found himself in an emergency it was his own fault that he did not reduce his speed earlier and come to a stop.”

**(c) Here defendant had neither the last chance nor a clear chance to avoid the accident.**

Certainly if Paddock and Hyland were to be believed, 10 to 15 feet was no time within which, ascertaining plaintiff's peril, defendant could act to avoid the collision. Hyland, when he first saw the car, guessed that he could have stopped the train (R. 310) but was under no duty to do so in view of the train's right of way. And when he realized the plaintiff's danger—since for some reason Andersen had determined to end-run the train—it was too late to even kick the angle-cock. (R. 309)

Paddock, too, saw the automobile seem to reduce speed as if to stop; then when Andersen swerved to the other lane and kept proceeding it was too late for the train to stop, although he gave Engineer Colby the washout or emergency signal. (R. 317) His final statement to Mr. Black was that it never occurred that there might be a collision until the leading part of the train was 15 feet from the pavement. (R. 329) Then under all guesses and opinions it was too late to stop, since four to six car lengths was the most favorable guess to plaintiff as to the minimum stopping distance; and under Paddock's version the actual stop was normal. (R. 320)

Nor did Colby testify to the contrary. He big-holed momentarily before Paddock's washout; the day after the accident he estimated the lead car to be but one car length from the crossing. (R. 279) At the trial he left that distance to Paddock, Hyland and Chipman on the train's front end. (R. 280) Even with every brake in emergency he could not have stopped the train before the point of impact. (R. 293)

- A. No, I couldn't have stopped short of the crossing, if they had all went in emergency.
- Q. What you told me, if the brakes stopped, as you hoped they would, the plaintiff might have had a better chance to get around the front of the train, because you would have slowed down a little more; is that it?
- A. Well, that is due to the fact that the emergency is much quicker than a service; you get your full brake power much quicker.

- Q. Well, if you had all the emergency that you could have desired, isn't it a fact the train wouldn't have stopped by the crossing, but it might have slowed down sufficiently so the plaintiff might have completed running around the front end of the train; isn't that right?
- A. There is a possibility, yes; I believe I made that statement before.
- Q. And you didn't have a clear opportunity or wouldn't have had a clear opportunity to have stopped that train without it going into the crossing; is that right?
- A. No, not under those procedures.
- Q. And that is necessarily so because you are not sure exactly how far the front end was from the crossing; isn't that right?
- A. No, I wasn't sure until they got around the curve far enough that I could see the switchman's light and see the lights of the head car shining down the highway.
- Q. You would rather leave the exact distance as to how far that said train was from the crossing to the men who were there?
- A. Yes, as to when I received the washout signal, you could determine then as to how far I was from it when I used emergency, because it was momentarily after I went to the emergency position when I got the washout.

Chipman guessed most favorably for plaintiff, and his testimony therefore must be used in testing the correctness of the court's ruling. In contrast to Paddock and Hyland, he thought the washout signal and big-hole



emergency brake application were given when the end of the lead car was about three car lengths away. (R. 226) *But he, too, said the distance was insufficient to stop short of the collision* (R. 226):

Q. About how far was the lead end of the car, the leading car, from the intersection from the highway itself, at the time when you saw that washout signal given?

A. Well, around about three cars; we was right there by those poles, I am pretty sure, in there.

Q. You say three car lengths to the south and east, or to the south of the crossing?

A. Yes, up towards the mountain.

Q. Now, was the train able to stop short of the collision?

A. No.

It was Colby—who had abrogated his own guesses as to distance to Paddock, Chipman and Hyland (R. 293-294) — who interjected the testimony supporting plaintiff's theory in this case: "Plaintiff may have had a better chance to get around the front of the train" if every brake had gone into emergency, as they were not designed to do. (R. 293)

But Paddock, Chipman and Hyland unanimously scotched that hope. While plaintiff argues on page 19 of his brief "a split second would have saved the plaintiff harmless", the three men who were there in effect said "The time was too short, even by a hair".

As in the case of contributory negligence on the

part of plaintiff drivers, the present Utah Supreme Court by unanimous decision has but recently declared the Utah law on the last clear chance doctrine and specifically where railroad crossing accidents are involved.

In the case of *Van Wagoner v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, ..... Utah ....., 186 P.(2d) 293, decided November 3, 1947, the court quoted extensively from the Restatement of the Law of Torts and from *Graham v. Johnson*, 166 P.(2d) 230, 235, 109 Utah 365, dealing with the Last Clear Chance Doctrine as applied to automobile intersection cases. It concluded:

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